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Incependent Audiors Repor

To the Members of Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited {the “Company”}
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2024, and the statement of profit and loss (including
other comprehensive income), statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (*Act’} in the
manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2024, and its loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the
provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics, We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the financial statements.

Management's and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in Section
134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs, profit/ loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for
safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give
a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management and Board of Directors are responsible for
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
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BSR&Co. LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due fo fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high levet of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statemenis.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecling
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the ovemride of internal control.

*  (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible
for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate intemal financial controls with
reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Management and Board of Directors.

s Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern
basis of accounting in preparation of financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the refated disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies ininternal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and fo communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Other Matier

a. The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 were audited by the
predecessor auditor who had expressed an unmodified opinion on 17 August 2023.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 (‘the Order’} issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of Section 143{11) of the Act, we give in the “Annexure A" a statement
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BSR&Co. LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

on the matiers specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable,
2 A. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

a.

We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of thosebooks, except for the following:

the back-up of books of accounts and other relevant books and papers in electronic mode was not
maintained on the servers physically located in India on a daily basis with respect to accounting
software used for maintaining-

revenue accounting during 1 April 2023 to 15 July 2023
procurement and general ledger during 1 April 2023 to 26 March 2024; and

general ledger accounting during 1 April 2023 to 23 August 2023

in the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the back up requirements
in the independent auditor's report of service organisation in relation to payroll process operated
by third party service provider, we are unable to comment on whether the back-up of books of
accounts and other relevant books and papers in electronic mode relevant fo the said process was
maintained on the servers physically located in India on a daily basis for the period from 1
December 2023 to 31 March 2024.

matters stated in the paragraph 2B{f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit
and Auditors) Rules, 2014,

The balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash fiows dealt with by this Report are in
agreement with the books of account.

In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under Section
133 of the Act.

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 01 April 2024 taken
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2024
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

the qualification relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith
are as stated in the paragraph 2A(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) and paragraph
2B(f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controis with reference to financial
statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate
Report in "Annexure B".

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of

the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us:

The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial position.

The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there
were any material foreseeable losses.

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.

d (i) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in

the Note 40(vi) to the financial statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested
(either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds} by the
Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (*Intermediaries”),
[\ Page 3 of 13
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BSR&Co. LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever
by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or
the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(i) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in

the Note 40(vii) to the financial statements, no funds have been received by the Company from
any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall directly or indirectly, lend or
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the
Funding Parties (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf
of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(iii) Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the

circumstances performed, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the
representations under sub-clause (i) and (i) of Rule 11(e), as provided under (i) and (ii} above,
contain any material misstatement.

The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.

Based on our examination which included test checks, except for the instances mentioned below,
the Company has used accounting softwares for maintaining its books of accounts, which has a
feature of recordinSg audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the period
for all relevant transactions recorded in the respective softwares:

In the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the audit trail
requirement in the independent auditor's report of service organisation from 1 December 2023 to
31 December 2023 and in the absence of independent auditor's report in relation to controls at
the said service organization from 1 January 2024 to 31 March 2024 for an accounting software
used for maintaining the books of account relating to payroll process, which is operated by third-
party software service provider, we are unable to comment whether audit trail feature for the said
software was enabled and operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in
the software.

The feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled at the database level to log
any direct data changes for one of the accounting software used for maintaining the books of
account relating to revenue, procurement and general ledger.

In case of one of the accounting software used for maintaining the books of account relating to
revenue, the feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled at the database level
to log any direct data changes and the audit trail (edit log) facility was not available at the
application level throughout the year.

Further, for the periods where audit trail (edit log) facility was enabled and operated for the
respective accounting softwares, we did not come across any instance of the audit trail feature
being tampered with except that in case of one of the accounting software used for maintaining
general ledger for the period 1 April 2023 to 6 February 2024, due to limitations in the system
configuration, we are unable to comment whether there were any instances of the audit trail
feature being tampered with.

s

Page 4 of 13



BSR&Co. LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor's Report under Section 197(16) of the Act:

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not
paid any remuneration to its directors during the year. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not
prescribed other details under Section 197(16) of the Act which are required to be commented upon

by us.
ForBSR&Co.LLP

Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

bt Lol

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date; 29 May 2024 ICAl UDIN:24505121BKGXDO1797
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels {Chennai) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March

2024

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

(i) (8) (A} The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative

details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

(B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

0 ®

(©)

(d

(e

(i) (a}

(b)

{)]

(@)

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has a regular programme of physical verification
of its Property, Plant and Equipment by which all property, plant and equipment are verified once
in three years. In accordance with this programme, all property, plant and equipment were
verified during the year. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is reasonable
having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. No material discrepancies
were noticed on such verification.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the litle deed of immovable property disclosed in the financial
statements are held in the name of the Company. However, original title deed is under lien with
banks for the loan facilities availed by the Company. Therefore, we could not verify those title
deed. However, we have received independent confirmation from security trustee.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment
(including Right of Use assets} or intangible assets or both during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there are no proceedings initiated or pending against the
Company for holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property
Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.

The inventory, has been physically verified by the management during the year. In our opinion,
the frequency of such verification is reasonable and procedures and coverage as followed by
management were appropriate. No discrepancies were noticed on verification between the
physical stacks and the book records that were more than 10% in the aggregate of each class
of inventary.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not been sanctioned any working capital limits
in excess of five crore rupees in aggregate from banks and financial institutions on the basis of
security of current assets at any point of time of the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ii)(b) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any investments, provided
guarantee or security or granted any advances in the nature of loans, secured or unsecured, to
companies, firms, limited liability partnerships or any other parties during the year. The Company
has granted loans to companies during the year. The Company has not granted any loans to
firms, limited liability parinerships or any other parties during the year.

Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as per the information and explanations
given to us the Company has provided loans to companies as below:

M
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’'s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

(b)

{c)

(d)

(®)

®

()

W)

(vi)

(vil) (a)

Particulars Loans
(INR in millions)

Aggregate amount during the year

— Fellow subsidiaries - 760

Balance outstanding as at balance sheet date

- Fellow subsidiaries - 7.84

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the audit procedures
conducted by us, in our opinion the terms and conditions of the grant of loans are, prima facie,
not prejudicial to the interest of the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in the case of loans given, in our opinion the repayment of
principal and payment of interest has been stipulated. However, since no repayment of prinicipal
and interest on the loans given has fallen due during the year, accordingly, we are unable to
comment on the regularity of these loans. Further, the Company has not given any advance in
the nature of loan to any party during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there is no overdue amount for more than ninety days in respect
of loans given. Further, the Company has not given any advances in the nature of loans to any
party during the year,

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there is no loan or advance in the nature of loan granted falling
due during the year, which has been renewed or extended or fresh loans granted to settle the
overdues of existing loans given to same parties.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not granted any loans or advances in the
nature of loans either repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or period of
repayment.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has neither made any investments nor has it not
provided any guarantee or security as specified under Section 185 of the Companies Act, 2013
{"the Act™). In respect of loans given by the Company, the provisions of Section 185 of the Act
have been complied with. The Company has complied with Section 186(1) of ihe Act. According
to the information and explanations given to us, the provisions of Section 186 (except for sub-
section (1) of the Section 186) of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable to the Company
since the Company is engaged in the business of providing infrastructural facilities.

The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed to be deposits from
the public, Accordingly, clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Central Government has not
prescribed the maintenance of cost records under Section 148(1) of the Act for the services
pravided by it. Accordingly, clause 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company does not have liability in respect of Service tax, Duty of excise, Sales tax and
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’'s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

)

{viii}

() (a)

(b}

(©

(d)

(e)

(®

x) (@

)

Value added tax during the year since effective 1 July 2017, these statutory dues has been
subsumed into GST.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in our opinion amounts deducted / accrued in the books of
account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including Goods and Services Tax, Provident
Fund, Employees' State [nsurance or Cess or other statutory dues have generally been regularly
deposited with the appropriate authorities, though there have been slight delays in a few cases
of Tax Deducted at Source and Professional Tax.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Goods and
Services Tax, Provident Fund, Employees' State Insurance, Income-Tax or Cess or other
statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2024 for a period of more than six months from
the date they became payable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there are no statutory dues relating to Goods and Services Tax,
Provident Fund, Employees' State Insurance, Income-Tax, Duty of Customs or Cess or other
statutory dues, which have not been deposited with the appropriate authorities on account of
any dispute.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transactions,
previously unrecorded as income in the books of account, in the tax assessments under the
Income Tax Act, 1961 as income during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans and
barrowing or in the payment of interest thereon to any lender.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any
bank or financial institution or government or government authority.

According to the information and explanations given to us by the management, the Company
has not obtained any term loans during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ix){(c) of the Order is not
applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, and the procedures performed by us,
and on an overall examination of the financial statements of the company, we report that the
company has used funds raised on short term basis aggregating to INR 7.30 millions for long -
term purposes.

The Company does not hald any investment in any subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures (as
defined under the Act) during the year ended 31 March 2024. Accordingly, clause 3(ix}(e) is not
applicable.

The Company does not hold any investment in any subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures (as
defined under the Act) during the year ended 31 March 2024. Accordingly, clause 3(b){f) is not
applicable.

The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer or further public offer
(including debt instruments). Accordingly, clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private
placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during the year. Accordingly, clause
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

{xi) (a)

{b)

c)

{xii}

{xii)

{xiv) (a)

(b}

(xv)

{xvi} (a)

(b)

{©)

(d

{xvii}

(xvii)

{xix}

3(x)}(b} of the Order is not applicable,

Based on examination of the books and records of the Company and according to the
information and explanations given to us, no fraud by the Company or on the Company has
been noticed or reported during the course of the audit.

According to the information and explanations given to us, no report under sub-section (12} of
Section 143 of the Act has been filed by the auditors in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under Rule
13 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Centrai Government.

As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received by
the Company during the year,

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not a Nidhi Company.
Accordingly, clause 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of public limited company and accordingly the
requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 177 of the Act are not applicable to the

are in compliance with Section 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions
have been disclosed in the financial statements as required by the applicable accounting
standards.

In our opinion and based on the information and explanations provided to us, the Company does
not have an Internal Audit system and is not required to have an internal audit system as per
Section 138 of the Act.

In our opinion and based on the information and explanations provided to us, the Company does
not have an internal audit system and is not required to have an internal audit system as per
Section 138 of the Act. Accordingly, clause 3(xiv)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
nhot entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons connected to its directors
and hence, provisions of Section 192 of the Act are not appiicable to the Company.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934, Accordingly, ciause 3{xvi)(a} of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by
the Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, clause 3(avi)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not part of any group (as per the provisions of the Core Investment Companies
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016 as amended). Accordingly, the requirements of clause
3(xvi)(d) are not applicable.

The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current financial year. However, the Company
has incurred cash losses of INR 21.45 milliort in the immediately preceding financial year.

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year. Accordingly, clause
3(xviii} of the Order is not applicable,
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state
that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of the Company. We further state that our
reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither give any
guarantee nor any assurance that all kabilities falling due within a period of one year from the
balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

{xx) The requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 135 are not applicable to the
Company, Accordingly, clauses 3{xx)(a) and 3(xx)(b) of the Order are not applicable.

ForBS R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

b Luae]

Ankush Goel

Partner

Piace: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24505121BKGXDO1797
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’'s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024

Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid financial
statements under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

(Referred to in paragraph 2(A)(g} under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Duet India Hotels
{Chennai) Private Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2024 in conjunction with our audit of the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

In our opinion, the Company has maintained, in all materiai respects, adequate internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements as at 31 March 2024, based on the intemnal financial controls with
reference to financial statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over
Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note™) and
except for the possible effects of the material weakness described in "Basis for Qualified Opinion” section
of our report below on the achtevement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company’s
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements were operating effectively as of 31 March
2024.

We have considered the material weakness identified and reported below in determining the nature,

timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of 31 March 2024 financial statements of the Company,
and the material weakness do not affect our opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit, the following material
weakness has been identified in the operating effectiveness of the Company's internal controls with
reference to financial statements as at 31 March 2024:

The Company's intemal financial controls with reference to financial statements in respect of General
Information Technology Controls (GITCs) and automated Information Technology (IT) Application
Controls over the Company's Opera application software were not operating effectively as at 31 March
2024. This could potentially result in understatement / overstatement of revenue from operations in the
Company’s financial statements.

A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control with
reference to financial statements, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for Internal Financial Controls

The Company's Management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining
internal financial controls based on the intemal financial controls with reference to financial statements
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the
Guidance Note. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of
its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Mo

Page 11 of 13



BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure B to the independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note
and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to

respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our gqualified opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to financial statements.

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements
due to error or fraud Mmay occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internat
financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the
intemal financial controls with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of

A
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March
2024 (Continued)

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

ForBSR&Co.LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

Akt bunc

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24505121BKGXDO1797
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Duet India Hotels {Chennal) Private Limited

CIN: USS101 HR2009P TC 046940

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2014

Al amourtss are in INR wiflions, wnless otherwise staled)

ASSETS

Nom-curreat assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Other intamgible assets
Financial assets
Other financial assets
Income tax assets {nel1)
Other non-current assets
Todal nom-current assels

Current assets
Inventories
Financial assets
Teade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans
Other financial assers
Other current assets
Tolal current assels

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Equity share capital
Tnstruments entirely £quiry in nature
Other equity

Total equily

Liabilities
Non-curreni linbilities
Financiat liabililies
Borowings
Prowisions
Total non- corrent liabilities

Current liabilitles
Financial habiliues
Borrowmngs
Trade payables
- toral outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small
enterprises: and
- total outstanding dues of ereditors other than micro
enlerprises and small enterprises
COther Nnancial liabtlines
Oxther current liabilines
Provisions
Tolal corrent labilities

Total linbilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Note

19
1
17

14

16

17
8

19
20

21

13

The notes from note | 1o note 42 form an ntegral part of these financial statements.

As per our report of even date altached

For BSR & Co. LLP
Charfcred Acconniants
ICAI Finm Registranon No @ 101 248WAW-100022

Anbooty faned

Ankush Goel
Fariner
Membership Na 303121

Place Gurugram
Date 29 May 2024

Az at
31 March 2024

As at
M March 2023

300 91 20T
66 14 66 21
- 014
974 275
218 189
039 112
37936 393.52
069 1.47
ga7 |z
1739 1528
T4 -
02 034
308 568
39.60 36.00
418.% 429.61
40 46 40 46
34547 34547
(331.14) {330.87)
4.1 35,06
31443 3404
056 111
214.9% 3515
994 BOS
1R% 153
2152 3226
o34 469
416 507
034 78O
4918 30,40
Jod 1T IT4.55
418_.=96 429.61

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Duet Indis Haotels (Chennai) Private Limited

g)m»—r«l' G-]h

Rahul NZaua
DIN: 07886515

Place Gurugram
Drne 29 May 2024

Simranjeet Singh
DIN 08083337

Place Gurugram
Date 29 May 2024



Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: USS101HR2009PTCO46940

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al umounts are in INR miflions, unless otherwive stated)

Income

Revenue from operabions
Other income

Total income

Expenses

Cost of materials consumed
Employee benefits sxpense
Other expenses

Total expenses

Earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and tax

Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense

Lass before tax

Tax expense
Current tax
Deferred tax

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

ftems thar will not be reclassified io profit or loss

+ Resmeagurement gain on defined benefit obligations
- Income tax relating to items mentioned above
Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Loss per equity share (Face value of INR 10 each)

Basic (TNR)
Diluted (MNR}

The notes from nate | 10 note 42 form an integral pan of these financial statements

As per owr report of even date attached

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAT Firm Registration No.; 101248W/W.100022

Anba lodd

Ankush Goel
Purmer
Membership No ; 509822

Place: Gurugram
Diate: 29 hay 2024

Note

24
25

26
27
30

28
29

27

k3|

Rahul N Latta
DIN: 07886515

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

For the year ended For the year ended
3t March 2024 31 March 2023
18765 14795
4.08 286
191.73 150.81
i0.73 10.36
3212 26,56
9579 04 93
138.64 132.05
53.09 18.76
3126 40 47
2806 33.49
59,32 73.96
{6.23) {35.20)
- 0.03
2 0.03
6.23) {3517
0.36 0.13
- (0.03)
0.36 0.10
(5.87) (35.07)
(0.80) (7.1
(0.80) (711

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Duet India Wotels (Chennai) Private Limited

g iM S'-']L\

Simranjeet Singh
Threeior
DIN; 08083337

Place: Gurugram
Date; 29 May 2024



Durd Indiy Harels (Chemnai) Private Limited

CTN: USS101 AR PT OGS0

Stacement af Cash Flows for tbe rear cnded 31 March 2024
1Al amounts are i IR avifans, widess sihennse stafedr

Ao Cuash Mows fram sporaning aciividies

Loss belpre tax

Adfusimems:

Adjustments for:
Deprocaion and amonisatos cxpense
Prewvision for bad and doubdlid debois and adh ances
Provisions babuitics no konger tedqulred wiien bick
Finanse cosis.
Lerts on disposal of propseny. plant and cqulprcn
Imcrest income
Lost on foeclpn eochange Tucnuation (ret)

L1, m cash Mows hefure In assc1s and liabiNick
Drecrease f (increase) m im trlones
Decrease in irade recei ables
Increase m othor financial steels
Decreise f (incrcasey in other asscis
{Decrease) £ inerease mirade pavables
{Derease) § increase in other liabilings
{Deocase) £ inorease in provisions
Incrcase Wy odhor (inancial babilitics

Cash yencraied from nperaltions
Income (cecs (paid¥ refunded - not

Met cash generaced by aperaling sotivities (A)

B Cath Mlaws from smvestnp st iies
Purchasc of property, plant and equipment and mianglble asseis
Interest mecived
Loan provided w mlawd panics
Bank deposils manmd
Bank deposits made
Nt cash (used injigs I From i i fvities (Hy

L. Cashlans from Msancag adivilics
P of i P from refated paries

Capital contribation on behali® of U parm compamy paid
Capital contribution on behali of tee patont compamy recerved
Fmcends Trom iMeroporae bomrowings Mmom rlalcd panic
Tcpoyment of kong Loom botrovangs
Paymen of progessing fecs ond other ancillary hormowing cosis
Furance cosis paid
{Repaymend of)¢ progecds from cument borrowings (ot

MNewcash used in fimsncing sechvinies (C)

Ner (decreanelfincnease im cash anid cash equivalents (A+B+C)
Tash and cash cquit akenis a1 Use beginning of the sear
Cash and cash equivalents st the eud of the year

Nutes tu statement of cash flows
L Campuncots of cash smd cash equivakens
Lash on hand
Balances with banks
=« N Currenl Accounts

i Tmancial k

Orpuning Balaoce

Changes from inanemga cash Mows

Repay mcol of Inercorporate bomowings fram related panses
Pmcoeds from incrorpome bomowings rom relaicd panics
iRepoymend o) prococds frem curremt bormowlngs

Repan mecnl of long 1emi bormowings

Finance copls acamcd

Finance cosis paid

Finamtc cods as per Loan ETR wodking

Onher non cash changes

Chsing Balance

Far ihe year ended For the year onded
31 March 314 F1 Murch 2023
(623} 155 1m)
% 06 EARL
ol D fify
1% [UEXS)
326 4o
- o
W LT
020 0
3055 18.04
n7s w14y
o D3R
(142 (081
644 I
(hRI) in
{0.%4) 12
(765} 013
172 0ag
46.70 .10
il 1]
4653 .71
th 32 76h
0ls 030
76y =
- 1T
7 o) =
(21.06) 0.71
- 102 50)
HAn 4 66
10,00 -
100 -
05Ty -
= 0 46)
(282 (37 1%)
(kA k] T4
_(23.36) 6.0
z1l (44.38)
1528 966
17,39 15.28
As ut Asal
I March J024 3t Murch 2023
a7 0%
tT 22 1510
17. 3 15.28
For the vear ended 31 Forihe year endind 31
Murch 2024 March 2023
11109 15106
- 132 300
Tk -
171 748
winh *
e -
128 &9y 15464
167 451
&30 -
I4.37 2L

wWi. The Cash Flows from operaing Jotitilies settion in Starenent of Caeth Flows has botn prepaned in accordancs with {be Tadireel Method" 5 560 oL in Lhe Ind AS 7 *Srarcment off Cash Flows™

The noacs Trown pote | ta noie 42 fanm an elegral pan of thete financial sarcnenls
As per gur repan oF cren dote aitached

For BSR & Co. LLP
ardered locommbkimis
1A Firm Remsimation Moo 1012439, W= 00022

Ankush fuel

Antash Gael
Fawtner
Membershp Mo 09522

Place Cunugrim
Due 29 M 2024

Far and anbehall of Beard of Diresiors of
Det ndia Hotels {Chepal) Private Linite]

QM»}A/&S!

DN TEROS LS

Place Guragram
Do X% May 2004

itk

Irrecior
DI B 135T

Place Cuwrogram
Date: 29 May 1034



Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limsited

CIN: USS10(HR2009PTCO46940

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AL paounrs ave i IV millions, wiless otfierwese sraredl)

2. Equity share capital

Particulars Number of shares Amaount
As a1 01 Aprl 2022 4,045,867 4046
Changes in equiry share capital during the year - -
As 31 3 March 2023 4045867 4045
Chanpes in equits share capital during the year - -
As 3t 31 March 2024 4,045,867 d0.46
b. lmstruments entirely equity in mature

Particulars Asat As at

31 March 2024 3l Mareln 2023
Fulty Compulsorily Co ible Deb (FCCI
At the begmnimg of the year HE47 34547
Add- Additions during the 3 car . .
Balanee at the end pfthy year 345,47 34547

e Other equity {refer mole 16)
Particulars Capital ibutign an Reserves and surplus
behall of the parent
Nl'lpﬂ: Hecurities premium | Retained earings Lot L LZEL
defined benefit plans

Balawce az at 01 April 2023 L6 163.83 (51514 - (150.73)
Loz for the year - - 3517 - 155,17
Additions dunng the yoar 13 66 - - R[] 13,7
Repayment duning the ycar 9 040} - - - .00}
ther resere: - - 027 - 0.27
Other comprebensive Joss fnee of tax) - = = = -
Todal camprehensive loss 4.66 - (34.90) 010 (50.14)
Transferned o recained camings - - nig {n 10y -
Balance as at 31 March 2023 85,82 163.53 (580.52) - 33087
Lass far the year - - (6235 - (6.2
Other comprohensive loss {ner aflax} - - - 036 036
Total comprehengive loss - - (5.23) .35 (5.87)
Transfored o retained camings - - 034 (0.35) -
Addiions during the year 1000 10.09
Ropayment during the year {4400 - - - {4.40%
Balance as at 31 March 2024 F1.41 163.83 1586.39) - 1331.14)

The nodes from nete 1 1 pote 42 form an integral pan of these financial sements

g per our mopon of vven dave amached

For BSR & Co. LLP
Chortared Accountans
[CAL Firm Regwstrion Mo TO1243WAY- 100022

Aduoh luid

Amkush Goel
Faviner
Membership Mo 309821

Place; Gurugram
Dot 20 May J02d

For and on behaif of Board of Dircetors of
Druet Indis Hotels (Chennail Private Limied

e

dreeiliny
DIN 0786315

Place Gurugram
Date; 19 May 2024

Simranject Sir\]

Thrector
DIN. 0BOR3337

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024



Duet India Hotels (Chennai} Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2009PTC046940

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

1la(i) Corporate information

1a(ii)

A.

Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited ('the Company") was incorporated on November 26, 2009
under the Companies Act, 1956. The Company is primarily engaged in acquisition, development,
operation and management of Hotels in India.

The Shareholders of the Company (“*ACIC Mauritius 1” and “ACIC Mauritius 2”) on 30 March 2023
had entered into a Share Subscription and Purchase Agreement with SAMHI Hotels Limited (“SAMHI”
or “Acquirer”) for conditional sale of their shareholding in the Company to SAMHI Hotels Limited
(“SAMHI” or “Acquirer”). During the current year, the transfer of shareholding has been executed on

10 August 2023, resulting in SAMHI being the holding company of the Company w.e.f. 10 August
2023.

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind
AS) as per the Companies {Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time
notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, (‘Act’) and other relevant provisions of the
Act.

The financial statements are approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 29 May 2024.
Details of the Company’s accounting policies, including changes thereto, are included in Note 2(a) and
Note 2(b).

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (INR), which is also the Company’s functional
currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest millions, unless otherwise indicated.

Basis of Measurement

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.

Critical estimates and judgments

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgments and estimates that affect the
application of Company’s accounting pelicies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognized prospectively.
A




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2009PTC046940

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties at the reporting date that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year is included in the following notes:
e Financial instruments - Note 35
e Measurement of ECL allowance for trade receivables and other assets — Note 35
e Assessment of useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets —Note 3 and 4
e Estimation of obligations relating to employee benefits (including actuarial assumptions) —
Note 27
e Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key assumptions about the
likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources — Note 32
e Recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profits against which
deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilized - Note 6

E. Current/ Non-current classification

Based on the time involved between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realization in cash
or cash equivalents, the Company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle for determining
current and non-current classification of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet.

F. Measurement of fair values

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.
This includes a finance team of Holding Company that has overall responsibility for overseeing all
significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair values and reports directly to the chief
financial officer.

Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the
valuation techniques as follows:

» Level [: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

» Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level | that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

* Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as far
as possible. [f the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.

A




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2009PTC046940

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

2a. Material accounting policies
1) Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognized as an asset if, and only if it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably.

Items of property, ptant and equipment (including capital-work-in-progress) are measured at cost, which
includes capitalized borrowing cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Freehold land is carried at historical cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties
and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, any directly attributable
cost of bringing the item to its working condition for its intended use and estimated costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

The cost of a self-constructed item of property, plant and equipment comprises the cost of materials and
direct labour, any other costs directly atiributable to bringing the item to working condition for its
intended use, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which

it is located.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.
Transition to IndAS

The Company had elected to use the fair value of all the item of property, plant and equipment on the
date of transition i.e. 1 April 2021, and designate the same as deemed cost.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on cost of item of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual
values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in the

statement of profit and loss. Freehold land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative period are as

follows:
a8




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2009PTC046940

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Asset Management’s estimate of | Useful life as per Schedule 1T
Useful Life to the Companies Act, 2013
Building 10-56 years 60 years
Computers and accessories 3 years 3-6 years
Plant and machinery 3-20 years 15 years
Fumniture and fixtures 8-10 years 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate. Based on technical evaluation and consequent advice, the management believes that its
estimates of useful lives as given above best represent the period over which management expects to
use these assets.

Depreciation on addition/ (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from / {up to) the date on which
the asset is ready for use/ (disposed off).

2) Intangible assets
Recognition and measurement

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is recognized at fair value at the date of acquisition. An
intangible asset is recognized only if it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the asset
will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Following initial
recognition, other intangible asset, including those acquired by the Company in a business combination
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All other
expenditure, including expenditure on intemally generated goedwill, is recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the siraight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in
depreciation and amortization in Statement of profit and loss.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Category of assets Management’s estimate of Useful Life
Computer software 4 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2009PTC046940

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

3) Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial
liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

The Company’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less any attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest (‘EIR*) method.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is considered as a
prepayment and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, Loans and borrowings including
bank overdrafts

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through statement of profit and loss
are designated as such at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 are
satisfied. For liabilities designated as FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own
credit risk are recognized in OCI. These gains/ loss are not subsequently transferred to statement of
profit and loss. However, the Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. All other
changes in fair value of such liability are recognised in statement of profit and loss. The Company has
not designated any financial liability as at fair value through statement of profit and loss.

+ Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Loans and Borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of profit and loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in statement

of profit and loss.
A




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2009PTC046940

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounis in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Classification and Subsequent measurement
Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial assets is classified as measured at:
e  Amortised cost

FVOCI — debt investment;

FVOCI - equity investment;

FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its
business model for managing financial asset, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on
the first day of the first reporting period following the changes in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVQCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is
provided to management. The information considered includes:

— the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale
of the assets;

— how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;

— the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed; and

— the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Ao




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2009PTC046940

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest

For the purposes of this assessment, *principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the

Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the

financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash

flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features;

- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and
at FVTPL losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at | These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
amortised cost effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
_ derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at | These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
FVOCI under the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are
investments at recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly
FVOCI represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net
gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not reclassified to profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such
on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses,
including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
also recognised in profit or loss.
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Derecognition

Financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred
assets are not derecognized.

Financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire.

The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows
under the modified terms are substantially different. In such case, a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Balance Sheet
when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultancously.

Modification of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets:

If the terms of a financial assets are modified, the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are substantiaily different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. [n this
case, the original financial asset is derecognized and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortized cost are not substantially different, then the
modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Company
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognizes the amount arising from
adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

Financial Liabilities:

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. [n this case, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.
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Fully Compulsorily convertible debentures

The Company has issued fully compulsorily convertible debentures (FCCDs). As per the terms of
debenture agreement, each debenture will be converted into equity shares based on an agreed conversion
formula (fixed to fixed conversion). FCCDs are separated into liability {as applicable} and equity
components based on the terms of the contract. On issuance of the FCCDs, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount
is classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is
extinguished or converted. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to equity since conversion option
meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed to fixed classification.

4) Impairment
A. Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and
debt securities at Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) are credit-impaired. A financial asset is
‘credit- impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not
consider otherwise;

- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, except
for the following, which are measured as 12 month expected credit losses
- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
- other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over
the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses.

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).
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In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Company considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward- looking information.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).

As a practical expedient, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance
on portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analyzed.

Presentation of allowance for expected credit losses in the balance sheet
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (¢ither partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write- off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts
due.

B. Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each reporting date if there is any indication of
impairment based on internal/external factors. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest Company of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUSs that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an individual asset or Cash Generating Unit (CGU) is the greater of its
value in use and its fair value less costs to disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the asset or CGU.
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An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce
the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect of other assets for
which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the Company reviews at each reporting
date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such
a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

5) Inventories

Inventories which comprises stock of food and beverages (including liquor), operating supplies and
stock-in-trade are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventories comprises all
costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventory to their present location and
condition. In determining the cost, first in first out (“FIFO”) method is used. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs to make the sale.

6) Provisions (other than employee benefits)

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Expected
future operating losses are not provided for.

When the Company expects some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision will be
reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement is recognized when, and only when, it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is
treated as a separate asset.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Provisions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.
7) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liability is a possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly withing
the control of the entity or a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to setile
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. The
Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements.
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Contingent Asset

Contingent asset is not recognised in financial statements since this may result in the recognition of
income that may never be realised. However, when the realisation of income is virtually certain, then
the related asset is not a contingent asset and is recognized.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.
8) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred in connection
with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction of an
asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use are
capitalized as part of cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the petiod
in which they are incurred.

9) Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are classified
as short-term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, short-term bonus and ex-
gratia. The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits to be paid in exchange for employee
services is recognised as an expense as the related service is rendered by employees.

Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plan — Provident fund and Employee state insurance

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified
contributions and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. Provident fund scheme and employee
state insurance are defined contribution schemes. The Company makes specified monthly contributions
towards these schemes. The Company's contributions are recorded as an expense in the profit or loss
during the period in which the employee renders the related service. If the contribution already paid is
less than the contribution payable under the scheme for service received before the balance sheet date,
the deficit payable under the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already
paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for services received before the
balance sheet date, then excess is recognized as an asset to the extent that the pre-payment will lead to
a reduction in future payment or a cash refund.

Defined benefit plan — Gratuity

The Company's gratuity scheme is a defined benefit plan. The present value of obligations under such
defined benefit plans are determined based on actuarial valuation carried out by an independent actuary
using the Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period of service as giving rise to an
additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final
obligation.
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The obligation is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. The discount rates used
for determining the present value of obligation under defined benefit plans, are based on the market
yields on government securities as at the balance sheet date, having maturity period approximating to
the terms of related obligations.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognized in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income
and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognized immediately in the profit or loss as past
service cost.

Other long-term employee benefits — compensated absences

The employees can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and utilize
it in future service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of employment. Since the
compensated absences do not fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service and are also not expected to be utilized wholly within twelve
months after the end of such period, the benefit is classified as a long-term employee benefit. The
Company records an obligation for such compensated absences in the period in which the employee
renders the services that increase this entitlement. The obligation is measured on the basis of
independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. Remeasurements as a result of
experience adjustments

and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the profit or loss.

10) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to a customer i.e. on transfer of control of the
goods or service to the customer. Revenue is net of indirect taxes and discounts,

Contract asset represents the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for services that the
Company has transferred to a customer when that right is conditioned on something other than the
passage of time.

When there is unconditional right to receive cash, and only passage of time is required to do invoicing,
the same is presented as Unbilled revenue.

A contract liability is recognized if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Company transfers the related goods or services and the Company is under
an obligation to provide only the goods or services under the contract. Contract liabilities are recognized
as revenue when the Company performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognized:
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Room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation services

Revenue comprises room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation and other services relating to
hotel operations. Revenue is recognised upon rendering of the services and sale of food and beverages
which is recognised once the rooms are occupied, food and beverages are sold and other services have
been provided as per the contract with the customer.

11) Recognition of interest income or expense

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

- the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If
the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

12) Foreign currency
Foreign currency Transactions

Transacttons in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Company
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions or an average rate if the average rate
approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
exchange differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

13) Income taxes
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the

extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.
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Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set
off the recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or
simultaneously.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for
* temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that:
- is not a business ¢ombination; and
- at the time of the transaction (i) affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
(ii) does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences
* temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements
to the extent that the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
* taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable
temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognize a
deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the business plans in the Company. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized
or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets and they relate to income tax levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on 2 net basis
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
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14) Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with
any of the Company’s other components and for which discrete financial information is available.
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker (CODM)

Identification of segments

In accordance with Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments”, the operating segments used to present segment
information are identified on the basis of information reviewed by the CODM to allocate resources to
the segments and assess their performance.

15) Earnings per share

Basic Earning Per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit (or loss) attributable to the owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted Earning Per Share

Diluted eamings per share is computed by dividing the profit (considered in determination of basic
earnings per share) after considering the effect of interest and other financing costs or income (net of
attributable taxes) associated with dilutive potential equity shares by the weighted average number of
equity shares considered for deriving basis eamings per share adjusted for the weighted average number
of equity shares considered for deriving basic eamnings per share adjusted for the weighted average
number of equity shares that would have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive potential equity
shares.

16) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, balance with banks, demand deposits with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.

17) Measurement of earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and tax (EBITDA)

The Company has elected to present earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and
tax (EBITDA) as a separate line item on the face of the statement of profit and loss. The Company
measures EBITDA on the face of profit/ (loss) from continuing operations. In the measurement, the
Company does not include finance costs, depreciation and amortisation expense, exceptional items and
tax expense.

18) Share Capital
Equity shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity shares are recognised as a deduction from
equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction is accounted for in accordance

with Ind AS 12.
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19) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

As a Lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone
prices. However, for the leases of property the Company has elected not to separate non-lease
components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use assets is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the
lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by the end of
the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company will exercise a purchase
option, In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset,
which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use
asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of
the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if the rate cannot be
readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Company determine its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external
financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset
leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
e fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;
e amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

e the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise,
lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise
an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is
reasonably certain not to terminate early.
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The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a
change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise an purchase, extension or
termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

20) Government grants and subsidies

2b0

Grants and subsidies from the government are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that (i)
the Company will comply with the conditions attached to them, and (ii) the grant/subsidy will be
received.

Service Exports from India scheme (SEIS)

The scheme entitles the Group to receive SEIS licenses basis the annual earnings in foreign currency.
These licenses can be utilized by the Group or sold in the market. The grant is recognised in the
Statement of Profit and Loss on an accrual basis at realizable value.

Changes in material accounting policies
Material accounting policy information

The Company adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendment to Ind AS 1) from 1 April
2023. Although the amendments did not result in any changes in the accounting policy themselves,
they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements.

The amendments require the disclosure of ‘material’ rather than ‘significant” accounting policies. The
amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting
policies, assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy information that users
need to understand other information in the financial statements.
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Delelions during (e year - 00,18 - - (i nKy - -
Balance a8 34 31 March 2014 261,39 3059 Ya.15 418 IR5.6% 45345 6845
Accumuluied depreciation
Balance a5 3 01 April 2012 747 Thl (L) ¥ (-3 i #K [ea) [1hcrd
Diopreclation charge for Lhe year T80 T [ENE] ) 3o 077 [l
Reversal on disposal of assois - [0 26) - - (021 0 .
Balanre as s 31 March 2613 1577 15,40 31.%5 LR 1] 6163 1.54 1.54
Deprecianon charge for the yar TH B62 1M 08 1713 n1 o7}
Roversal on deposal of assos - - - - - ‘ -
Balance at o 31 March 2024 13,11 2072 4596 .59 w4, 78 231 ™n
Net carrying amount
Balomce a5 3¢ 3| Manch 2023 4384 11% 5191 - an,TL 66,41 6691
Balance a8 st 31 March 2024 23814 L0017 £2.27 .19 Juak 6. 14 66,14

27 Refier 1o node 17 Cor informmation on propermy. plant ond equipmen pledged as scowrity by (he Cormpam

b} On iransdtion o Ind AS, the Company kas deced 1o use Fair value of all items of property, plant and cquipmen amd Fight-o-use as & 01 Apnl 2021 and designare the same 23 deemed cost

{uher miampible s
Wiation of carrving Amaoed
Camguier sofiware  Tedal inlangiblc
askels
Lross currying amsund
Balance at at UL April 2022 I M
Additons during Lhe yzr -
Dreletlons during e ycar . -
Balance a5 o 31 March 2013 EN fA)
Additsons during the year - -
Delnlions dunng the year - -
Balunce as at 31 March 2024 M 2T
Accumulated amoriisation
Bakance as at N1 April W22 I Rg LED
Ammonisation cxpensc for the year 11 LT
Babwnce w3t 31 March 2023 .60 .60
Amartision sepense for the year ald 014
Balante as at 31 March 2024 M 3.
Nel carrving amiounl
Balance as at 31 March 223 4 4

Bakance ax 3t 31 March 2024

20 On iransiion o Ind AS, the Conprany hat ehotied 10 use carm ing yaluc ol all ilems of inongrble assels as 21 00 Apail 2021 and designale the ame ag deemed cosl

th




Dwet India Hotels (Chemmal) Private Limived

CIN: USSLOTHRZ009PTC 046940

Notes to the finamcial statemenis for the year emded 31 March 2024
Al are in INR millions, unfess otharwise staivd)

5 Nom-current financial assets = Others
(Unsecured considered good)

Bank deposits [due to mahure after 12 months from the reporting period)*#
Secunity deposits

* Inchodes bank daposits under lien amounting to TMR. 7 20 (31 March 2023 - 1MR 0 32)
# mcluding imerest accrued on bank deposits of INR: 937 (31 March 2023 - INR Wil}

6 Tncome tax assets (net)

Tax deducted at source

As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
157 022
217 2353
.74 2.75
Aaat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
2138 1.89
2,18 1.89




Duet India Hatels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: USSIDIHR2009PT 046940

Netes to the finmncial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AN cnttoenres are in INR midfvons, sundess othervise sixved)

& Income tax For the year ended Fou (e year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Az The major components of income tax expensedincome] are
Recognised in profit or loss
Cument tax - -
Deferred tax - 9.03
- 0.03
For the year ended For the year ended
31 Mavch 2024 31 March 2023
Recognised in other campreh imcame
Tncome tax on other compreiensive Lneome - 1003}
- 103y
E. Reconcikation ol efeciive tax raie {iax aml the ing prodit mulrplied by Company's d ic fax rate)
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Y Amount o Amount
Loss before tax {820 135200
Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate 25 168 (157 2517 (1389}
Tax Eifect of:
Nan recognition of defemred taxes on lemporary diffe 951 69 (59 29) {25 65) 1416
Mon recoanition of deferred taxes on brought farward losses lapsed due 1o change in shareholding (989 25) 61 63 - B
Qthers 12.3% 10 77y 049 027
Effective tax vate - - - -
C. Deferred 1ax assets / Rabilities
Asal Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Deferred 1ax assets
Carry farwad business loss and Unabsorbed deprecianon 94,65 156 37
Provision Far employes benefits 087 030
DifTerence in camying amoum of bomowing berween books of account and as per Income Tax Act 1961 03T 002
Loss allowance for wade receivables 020 ¢I7
5.0 136.46
Defermel tax kabilities
Property, plant and equipment and Inwangible assets (21.30) (22 78)
{211.30) {22.18)
Deferved tax assets (net)” 74.79 134.08
et deferred tax asser not recognized on camy foraard losses and wabsorbed depreciaion AT 134 08

Deferved tax assed / (labiliry) recognised * = -

*As at year end, the Company has significant unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward business losses as per Income tx Act. 196) Deferred tax asseis have not been recognised, because it 15
not probable tha fuwre taxable profil will be available againgt which sniity can use the benefit there from

A




Duet India Hodels (Chemnad) Private Limited

CIN: USS101HR2009PTC 046940

Mates to the inancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AN arons are in INR mitfions. wfess atherwrse siied)

D. Movement in teroporary dilferences
3 March 2024

Badance a at Deferred fax Balance as
01 April 2023 | differences penerated 31 March 2024
Particulars {A) bat not recogwized ({C=A+B)
during 2023 Z4
18}
Deferved tax assees
Carry forwad business logs and Unabsorbed depreciation 15637 {61.72) 94 63
Provision for employee banefits 030 457 ng?
Loss allowance for made receivables 017 0403 0.20
Dhifference in camying amaonns of horowing benween books of account and as per Income Tax Act 1951 0.02 135 037
15686 160.77) 95.00
Del: d tax Mabiliiies
Property. plant and equipment and Intangible assers 22 781 148 | 21.30) |
22.781 1.48 | (21.50] |
Net deferred 1ax asset 134.08 (59.29] T4.79
31 March 2023
Balance as al Deferred tax Balance a5 a1
01 April 1022 | differences generated 31 March 2013
Pawticulars (A) bud mat recognised (C=A+EB)
during 2022-33
(B)
Deferved tax assess
Carry forwvad business loss and Unabserbed deprecignion 145 84 10 53 15637
Provision for employee benefits 025 X151 030
Loss allowance for rade receivables 017 - 017
Diifferenice In carmang amount of borrowing berween baoks of account and as per Income Tax Acr 961 - G2 002
144,16 b5 156.86
Deferred tax Nabiliies
Property, plant and equipment and Intanzible assese 126 33) 343 (22 78)
Dufference in carmang amount of borrowing bevwesn books of account and as per Income Tax Act 1961 (i el =
(26.34) 3.56 (12.78)
Met delerved tax asset 119.92 14.1% 134,08
E. Tax bssses and unabsorbed depreciation carried lorwarid
Tax losses lor whiich no defermed tax asset was recognised with expiry date are as follows
As at
31 March 2024
Amount Expiry Period (FY)
Unabsorbed depreciaton 37609 Never expire
Asal
31 March 2013
Amount Expiry Period (FY)
Business loss 1954 2025-26
Business loss 1203 2026-27
Business loss 3696 2027-28
Bugimess loss 5512 2028-29
Business loss 3867 2028-30
Bugingss loss 1744 2030-31
Unabsorbed depreciauon 31648 Mever expire




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: VS5 10 I HRUHHOPTC 046940

Nates 10 1he fmancial sialements for the year emded 31 March 2024
[l amarmis are m INR piflioits, wiless sithervase ciaicd)

T nher mon-current assels As at As at
fLinsecured. coutidered good) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Prepaid expenses 030 023
Capual advances - 039

.39 112

8  Inventories Ay at As at

fvarined of fower af cosi and net reafisable vofue) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Food and beyerages 0 A0 115
Etores and operaling supplies - 032

0.6% 147

For current assets pledged aganst borrowings, refer nole 17

9 Corrent Mnanclal assets - Trade veceivables As at As al
(T s urad) 31 Mareh 2024 31 March X023
Trade receivables

-Considered good 798 L343
-Credit impaired - 008

Unbilled revenue*

-Considered good 0 6% 050
3466 .40

Less: Lass allowance (019} 1N.08)
547 .32

* Ner of advances from customers of INR 0 66 (31 March 2023 < TNR 1 95}

Trade receivable ageing schedule

As ar 31 March 1014

Duistanding fer following periods from date of transaction
Less than 6 & napnihs -
- 5 Total
Particulars Unbilled Revemue monike I year I-2years| 2-3years More than 3 years oia

1) Undispued Trode recervables — considersd good 068 723 055 0 i 1 06 &.66

(i} Undispuled Trade receivables - eredit impared - - - - - - -

Total 0.65 7.23 055 0.1 0.4 LX) B.66

As at 31 March X023

Qutstanding for following periods fra te of transaction
Particulars Lnkilled Revemue i & 'lmmts “lu-2years| 2-3yeams Moere tham 3 years Teial

(i) Undisputed Trade receivables — considered seod .30 4,30 n.ns 0 46 - ool 9,32

tu} Undisputed Trade receivables — credil impared - - - - 0ok - .08

Total .50 830 0.0 046 008 0.0t 9.40

2) The Company’s exposure (0 credit and currency tisks. and loss allewances related 10 irade receivables are disclosed in nawe 33

b) There are no disputed rade recervables as al 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023

<) For recervables secursd against barrowings, rafer nowe 17
4) For receivables (rom related paries, refér nole 34

A




Dwoet Inddia Hotels (Chennad) Privaie Limited

CIN: U330 1HR200PTCO46540

Notes ta the inancial statements Tor the year ended 51 March 2024
(A amotots are m IR andiioss, unless otherwie siaied)

M Currend financial assets - Cash amd cash equivalents As at Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balances with banks
- In COTENl accounts 17 1510
Cash on hand 07 [RE]
17.3% 15.28
1 Current fmancial assets = Leang As ol As at
funscenred) 31 March 3024 31 March 2023
Loan 1o related pary *4 784 -
To partles olber tham related parties
Intercorporate loans irepayable on demand} (¥ 2] 064
Less: provision for doubiful leans 10.60) 0 6m
784 -
#Refer note 34 for related pary balances
* includes accrued inwerest amounting to INR 0 24 (INR - Nil}
Incorperate Inam ts related parties
Particutars Leam ansguni as at mterest rate charged per amnum Repay T.
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2034 31 March 2923
Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Privaie Limied 7al - 11 504 MNA Repayable within 12
months from the daie of
12 Carrent financial assets - Others As at As at
fLisecured, considered goond) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Security deposiis 048 nas
Orher receivables ot -
Loan 1o employee - 2%
Government gram 133 -
42 0.34
13 Ouler curmemt asseds As ar As at
Liarecured, considered good unless atherwnie virted) 31 March 2024 31 Maech 2023
Advance 1o supplers X3 590
Balance with customs. evcise and other authories 053 o3
Oiher receivables - i
Prapaid expenses ¥ 183 371
Balmce with custorms, excise and ather authorit idered doubul 0.66 066
Less: Allowances for doubdul advances {0 AGY (LR
309 4.68

# includes current portion of non-curren! prepaid expenses amounting 1o IR 0 39 (3) March 2023 - INR Nil }

A




Duet India Hoteds (Cletmaal) Privare Limited

CIN: USSI0THRIHHFTCOHGD4e

Modes to the: Msancial staiements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amawns are m INR muifons. idese offiernse siglad)

]

Equily shave capilal

Authorised sharc capical
Equity shares of TNR 10 cach

Isemed, subseribed and (ully paid »p
Equity shares of TNR 10 cach

2) Reconcilisian of the eqoily shares sutstamding at the hegimudig snd af ahe end of repornting Fear

Equily sharcs

Al the beminnimng of the year
Add : lssucd dunng Lhe 3 car
Balanoe 31 the emid of the yesr

b Rights, 1 ad bed Lo equily shares

As As al
3L March 2024 31 March 2033
Numher of shares Amount Numbher of shares Amount
5.350,000 33.50 3,350,000 3350
S, 350,000 3350 SA50.000 5150
4,045 867 4046 4,043 867 +0 46
445867 A.46 445467 40,46
Far the year onded For the vear eaded
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Nom ber of shares Amonol  Numher of shares Amnwml
445 367 4046 4045 807 dn 46
-F.lelf"ﬁ‘!' 446 A 45867 40,46

The: Compamy: has only om: class of cquits sharcs having the par valvo of MR 10 per shorg. Each bolder of equity sharo is entitled 1o one vote per share. The equin sharcs are cruitld 1o recene dividend as and wien
declared In the cvent of hiquidation of the Company. the halder of cquiry shares will be enutled w reesive remaming assews of the Company, after disiribunen of ol preferential amontis. The disinbution will be in

proportian (0 the aumber of cquity shares hel by the sharchokders

<} Shares beld by kelding companyicmtity haviag significant influcnce
Name o sharchelder

Equity shares of INR L0 cach

EANHAT Hotels Limied, the holding compomy w2 110 Augus 2023
ACIC Mawritusg 1. Uie holding company Bl 19 August 2023

ACIC Magniims 2, cmity having significans iifluence il 10 Augos) 2023
* | equiny share is beld by Mr Grana Das as a nominee dircctor

d) Betoils of sharcholders bhaldimg more iban 5% shares

Namc of shareholder

Equity shares of TNR 19 cach

SAMHI Hotcls Limited. dic holdmg company w e [ 10 August 2027
ACTC Wauriuns 1. the holding company nll 10 August 2423

ACTC Mavcitins 2, eniily having significant influenee nll 10 Augue 2023
) Details of shares held by promaicrs

As at I1 March 2424

As at As al
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of shares Amuunt Number of shares Amuunt
445 847 4044 - -
- - 3.0H 859 3075
- - 971008 2.71
4.H5.567 40,46 J,Dliﬁl‘ﬂ Al 44
As As st
31 Murch 20124 31 Murch 2023
Number of shares % of huliling Number of shares % ol holding
A5 BT % - W
. % 1074 350 T
- DL 971,000 24%,

. Mo. of shan= atthe  Chamay during the Mo, of shures 4 the Ya change during
B)ie: Ersmaccgiamt; heginniag of the year year ead of the year Eaulosisharcs 1he ycar
| SAMHI Hutels Limised. the holdieg, company we 10 . 1045867 4045 867 L% Tout
Augusn 2023
3 ;UC;JC Maunuus 1. the hokdmg, compam. wll 10 Aupost 1074430 (BN iz ™ %
i ACIC Mavriius 2, cntity haying signiieanl influence will 971003 (ST1.008) . " o0t
3 10 August 2023
LEAGT - $EARGT TIEA
As al 3t March 2023
S Mo Promuter Name Nu_. nttslmres atthe Chunge durisg the Ne. of sharcs at the % of tatal shares %% champe during
begimmimg of the year yedr end oi the year U year
[ ACIC Maurdiug 1. the hoing company F0TLRSD - 2074459 % -
2 ACIC Mayrits 2. enduy having sigimfi il 971,008 - 71 % % -
4IHEEGT - l,llligﬁ" LIEF% -




Duca India Haiels (Chemnai) Private Limived

CIN: US3101 HRESET CHE940

Motes do 1he fimancial staicments For the year onded 31 March 724
(AN amoznts are 12 IR mtfitons, indess afierinse med)

15 Tnstrumends catircly cquily in matwre

Asat A
31 March 2024 31 Miygrch 2023
Number of shares Amount Numher of shares Amount
Equity Cnmp of Fully Campmbsnrils Cawserrible Debentwres (FCCDsY
Balonge a5 ot the beginningfend of the ycar 34,546,693 34547 34 546,693 54T
Teial imstruments coiircly equity in naturc 34,546,693 Hi.ﬁ' 34,545,693 345.47
Fully Cempulsory £ ibke Dt o3 (FCCDs) held by halding company
Nume of sharcholder A As ut
31 March 203 31 March 2013
Number af shares Amount Number of shares Amaunt
SAMHI Hotels Limited, the bolding company w e [ 10 uguss 2023 546493 34T - -
ACIC Mauritiug 1. the holding company ull Ll August 2023 - - 34 546,603 34547
3%,0'!] 547 3454& 34547
Dredails of skarchobders holding mare than 3% Fully Compulsory Co hle Deb ¢4 (FCCDs) of the Company Asal As ol
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Number af sharcs e af holiling Number of shares % of holding

SAMHI Hotels Limitcd, the holdmg company w.e [ 10 August 2023 3,546,699 100 - [
ACIC Maundivg 1, the holdng company il 10 Augua 2023 - [ 3346693 1008
Dietails of Falh: (‘an Canverihle Behentures (FCCDs) held by promoters as at 31 March 2024
. Mo, of CCCPS it the Change during the No. of shares at the % chunge durimg
S Ll L beginning af the year year ond af the year % ofuntul shares the year
| SAMHI Hotels Limicd, the holing company w e (10 . 34,546,603 34546693 e 0%
Augug 2073
3 ;::213(' Maurusus 1. the holdmg compans vll 10 Aggast 24.546,697 (34546697 ~ ™ 0%
YT . 546,093 100% -
Fully €. lsrily Db (FCCD) Asa A5 al
31 March 324 31 Mlarch 2023
936,025 (31 March 2023 - 936.025) of TMR |0 cach (ungecured)ingic 11 236 936
7.962,176 (3| Morch 2023 - 7962 376) of TNE 1) cach (unsccurced Jinowe 23 T 62 7O 62
H908.040103] March 2029 - 6,999,400 of VR 10 cach funscenred Haote 3) £ 99 6090
1504040 (3] March 2023 - 1.514,040) of INR, 10 each fungcourgd Nooie 1) [ENE] 1504
740,932 131 March 2023 - 740,932) of INR 10 each (unsezured)inoto 3) T41 T4l
16,052,700 {31 March 2023 - 16.052.700) of TMR 10 cach (pasccurcd Nnotc 4) 160 53 160 33
41,790 (31 March 2023 - 341.730) of THR L0 cach {pnscourediinois ) 342 342

HEAT H5AT

| FCCD of IME, 10 gach having 2 coupon rawe of SBI bate rale plus 300 base poins per annum wors allotied oo 6 April 2007 10 DIH [Cyprus) SPY (o 3 Limited. Each FCCD dhall got convarted imio vac cquity
sharc of TR 10 zach o the oo of | 9 5 on manorine on or before 10 voors from the daie of iztuc. Thees FOCD 't do not carry sy micrest ll the repmyment af verm loans from she bmbs md fnmneial metintion and
aecardingly oo intrest it acerned o these FOCD's Wil 31 March 2024, These FOCD' wore iransfemed by DIH (Cyprust SPY (Mo 3) Limited 1 ACC #fawrivus | on 31 borch 2017 and then 1o SAMHI Howels
Lumied on L0 Augus 2023 with same lerms and condions

Ia

FCCD of IR 10 cach having 3 coupen raic of SBI base rate plus 300 base points per annum weore ollotied on 22 Ocaber 2018, 22 Movember 2012, 31 December 2018. 5 Fobruan 2019 and | Murch 2019 1o
DIH (Cvprus) $PY (Mo 33 Limited, Each FOCD shall ger convened wia o cquirny shars of THR 10 zach o the ratio of 193 on or before 30 Sepicmber 2028 These FOCD's do not gamy am imicress 0 the
repayment of erm loang from the banks and [vancial instvation and accordingly ne intercst is aoaued oo these FOCD's 1) 31 March 2024 These FCCD's were wansfermed by DIH (Crprush SPY (Mo 3) Linided 1o
ACIC Mauritms [ cu March 3¢, 2007 and then to SAMHE Howels Limaicd on 10 fugust 2023 with same wrms and condivons

FCCD of I, L0 coch hoving, a conpon rale of SBI base rate plas 300 base poinls por anvum wore altotied en |3 May 2009, 28 Junc 2019 and 30 Sepizmber 2019 0 Duet Indiz Hotels Pic Limited. Each FCCD
shall get converied mip ane cquity share of TMR 10 cach au the rato of | 9.3 on or before 30 Scpiember 2028 These FOCD's do wot comy amy interest ull the repaymeid of term boans from the banks and Tnancial
instnation and accordingly na micrest i sccrued on these FCCD'S ull 31 March 2023 These FCCTs wene wranshermed by Duct India Houcls Pre Limited 1o ACTC Maurbus | on 31 barch 2017 and then o SAMHI
Haolcls Limnied on 10 Angest 2023 with same 1ems and condinong

4 FCCD of INR. 190 cach having a coopon rale of 5B base cue plus 390 base points por anm wore ailoed en | Ociober 2020 and 18 Nevember 2020 10 Asna Asser Managemenl Comoan Lumacd. Each FCCD
shall get comvened mio one cquits share of INR 10 2ach at the ratio of 19.3 on o before 30 Scpiember 2028 These FCCD's do not camy amy interest 1l the repayment of 1eam loans fiom the banks and Nnancial
inprination and accordimgly no mieres i sccrued on these FCCD's Wl 31 bMarch 2004 These FOCD's were transierred by Asrva Asser Management Coyman Limited 1o ACKC Mauriing | on 29 December 2018 and
then 1o SAMHI Hotols Limited o 190 August 2023 with same terms and conditions

w




Dwei India Hotels {Chennad) Privace Limdied

CTN: U5518] AR2M0SFTLHEMD

Nutes do the Dnaacial statemems for (he year coded 31 March 2024
A musunts are o INE mathons, andess otherwese clmied)

16 Oiher equiy Asat Asal
3 March 203 31 Muarch 2023
Eecuritics premium 163 83 163 83
Capilal sonuibubion an behali' of the parent compary 9142 RIAZ
Reloned comings {35637 {580 52)
13304 {3HLET)
a) Sevurities premives As 3l Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Ealance al the begwming of the year 163 83 163 R3
Add. Additions made durmg the year = -
Balance al the end ol the year 163,83 143,83
Securitics prom e is recerved on issue of shares I is olilized o J: with the prow: ol the C AcL 2013
b) Capital contrihmtion an hehall af the pares company* Asaw Asadl
31 March X234 31 Murch 2023
Balmmee al the begumning of e year A3 B2 EINES
Additions during the year (LT} 13 66
Repayment duning the yoor {440} 19.00)
Balance ot the end of the year .42 W81

“The company had obiasicd mer-corporaie loans from is fellow subsidioncs Since, these loans are mkerest (ree boans and also repayable at the aption of Lhe barrewsr, hence these koans have boen recognized as
a capital contribution on bebaliof the parcr company.

¢) Retamed carnings Az al Asal

31 March 24 31 March 2923
Balance 2t the: beganning of the year LAB0 52 (52510
Loss for the year 1 233 (53517}
Ciher adjusimen - 027
Transferred from gthge hensive income 036 a1
Balance at the ond of the year {£B6.3Y) (SHD,52)
Reuwned camings rep the amopu of lated bosses of the Company
) Dther comprchensive ingame Ax al As al

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Balance at the bepinning of the year - -

Remeasurements of defined beneld liobibay (pes of ) 42 o
Tramfzrred 1o reamed camings 1036y o 10y

Balance authe end of e year = —

Remcasurements of defined benef liabiily comprises acwwarial gains ond losscs

G
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Duet Iodia Futels (Chennaly Privade Limndoed

CIM: USSINLHR2EPSPT CMEMD

Neen 1 the Mmancial staicmems for tee year cnded 11 March 2024
LA amomnis are i IR melons, anfess oferunse tiated)

H

k4

Nun-current provisiens Asal Asal
M March 2824 31 March 2023
Pravvabon or crplotres heneliig
{imnloty (refer nole 271 iR a1
Compensaed abzerees i note 271 48 [ER]
(£} [}
——
Cawrent Fnuncial lisbilhes - Burnowingy Adat Asal
31 March 024 31 March 2021
1Seerad)
neerdrall ol fom bank * k"3 Ta5
Currend matmre of long-1emm bomenvunga tefer noke 1T EE L
lfverqradt
[nercorpomie bomuvemp fem relaied parmies ** ) =
.04 S
— —
& it wwesresl soarsed o overdralt amounting g0 TR 0 08 1] Bdanch 2003 - TNR O 0
** ingludes aceraed averesl amowsng do TR O 30030 Mareh B33 - IR Ml
ID\rld’r.ll'l Ezcilithes from hanks
Sanctioncd smeun! Iniares rakc charged per snnlim =
Particuls Ti Tvepayment Security dotlls
i S March2034 | 31 March 2035 i i il
Fraluatind Hank | imsted 10 9 35%l 9 3k Repuvihle on damamd Samks a3 fuilswund 0 wde 17
Incnrporate borrawings frm related partics
Amaunt a1 on Batereu raie tharged per ammasn
Fasticulars Terme of repay s
31 March 2034 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 Marh 1033 Srn T
I st Doideor Thotels P Provate §imited 350 - 11 5 MHA Repavahle within 12 monthe [rom e dale ol
st Iricdia Thotebs o] haderahad) Prvate Timsted 130 - e NA dravadonm
Cwrrent Anuncial labilition - Trade payabias Asar Al
31 March 1824 I Murch 2023
Teacl: poables
= total Jug. e of e T and skl TEASLE) 1353
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33.1%
4} Refer witn 17 Far chiechosures wrier Mivr, Small ord Medwn Tntomncs Do clofmien Ao, 2006 (MEMIDY
b Refer not 24 for related party hakinees
Te} The Company's euposure i cumrenicy and ligudiy neka eelucd o rade payshles 15 disclosed m ok 45
Trade puyabla agcing schedule
Arar 31 March 224
Outuanding for fallaning period fram due dute af transaction
Particulars Acerued Eapenses Lews than | vear B2 vean 2-3 years More than 3 vears Total
Lid WSAE - 384 - - - EEL
{61 Cihers B 730 L46 038 44 .52
Total LE) 11.1% 145 (R0} 244 1540
As i 31 March 2023
O ding far follawing perind from due date af truncaction
Particulars Axcrucd Evpenses Lews than 1 year 1.2 vears 2-3 veurs Mora than J vears Total
i WS - i3 - = - 153
117 10 A0 {16 L] 377 3326
1.7 14.2% iLah e0 477 1370
The Compay dott nod b aoy dispied ducs whech are pavable 2 ay 11 barch 2004 and 11 blarch 3123
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31 March 2otd 3L March 201}
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Duet India Hotels { Chenmai} Privaie Limited

CIN: US5101 HRZODIPTCO46940

Nates ro the fimancial statements for the year emded 31 March 2024
£AN amounis are i INR milhons, wnfess pthuriise sated)

M4

5

6

27

Revenwe frem operations

Sale of services
- Room revenue
- Food and beverape revenue

- Liquor and wine
- Recreatien and other services

The contract hizbilities primanly relate 10 the advance consideralion received from customers for which
Advance collaction is d when p is ived before the related p i

For the year ended
31 March 2024

14294
3133
732
556
187.65

For the year ended
31 March 2023

106 60
LU Y
T55
366
14795

is over! services deliversd

is grized when the g
ished This includes ad received from the custamer 1owards rooms /

restaurant! banquets Revenue is gnised once the p

ing is ded as unbilled R gmzsed in the 5

Cantracr Liabilities
Advance Irom customers

i met i ¢ on room stay sale of food and beverage / provision of banquet serviess Excess of revenue over
of Profir and Loss 1s same as the conrracted pnce

The amount of revenue TNR 0 33 (31 ddarch 2023 TNR 042

Trade veceivables

Mote: Considering the nature of business of the Company, the above rrade receivables is converted into cash within the same operating cycle

Other mcome

[nwerest income from financial assets aw amontised cost
- on bank deposits
= on kaan w fellow subsidiaries

Government grant

Provision no longer required wrilten back

Interesr on income tax refund

Miscellaneous income

Cost of materials consumed

Consumpiion of food and beverapes
Inventory at the beginning of the year
Add: Purchases during the year
[nveniory at the end of the year

Employee bemefits expense

Salaries, wages and bouns

Contribution to provident fund and other funds (refer 'a’ below)
Compensated absences {refer B below)

Saff wellare expenses

As at As at
31 March 2034 31 March 2023
298 1.35
luded in the ady from balance ai the b of the period
B 47 @32
For the year emded For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
G4l a57
06 -
) 53 -
178 043
[T =
= 166
4.08 196
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2014 31 March 2023
(W 1.01
1027 1o
(069) sy
1173 19.56.
For the year ended For the year ended
31 Warch 2024 31 March 2023
2138 1742
1 5% 126
Ha9 060
£47 728
32.12 26.56




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limsited

CIN: UsS101 HR2009PT CO46940

Mates 1a the linancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(4N amounts are im INR mithons, nnfess athenvise staed)

n. Defined coniribwtion plams

The Comp makes ibui determined as a specilied p pe of employes talaries, in respect of qualifymg employees towards Providem Fund, Tabour Welfare Fund and
Emplayses’ Siate Insurance, which are defined contribution plans The Company has ne obliganons ather than to make the specified contrit The conrrib are charged to profit
or boss as they accrue The amount gnised as an exp ds contribution to Provident Fund, Labour Welfare Fund and Employses' Siaie Insurance for the year agpregated to INR

1 58 {31 March 2023 - [WNR. | 26}

b. Compensated absences (other than long tevm employee benefs)
The principal assumptions used 1 determining the obligation are as given below.

As at As at

Parficulars 31 March 2024 30 March 2023
*% Y

Discounting rate p.a 715 739
Salary growth rate pa 1000 1000
Refer notz below for mortalily assumplions
c. Defimed Benedit Plan
Graluity

The Company has a defined benefit gratity plan. Every employee who has completed five years or more of service gets a gratuity on departure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for
each completed year of service as per Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 The scheme is not funded

These plans rypically expose the Company 1o ial risks such as: investment risk, inherent interest rate risk , longevity risk and salary risk

Invesiment risk

The present value of the defined benefic plan liability {denominated in Tndian Rupes) 5 caleulated using a discount rate which 15 derermined by reference 1o market yields a1 the end of the
porting period on o bonds

Inierest vaie risk
The defined benefir oblig: leulated uses a di rale based on government bonds If bond yields fall, the defined benefit ebligation will tend to i

Longevity visk
The present value of the defined benedit plan liability is calculated by reference ro the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and afler their employment. An increase
in the life exp of the plan participanis will i the plan's liabiliry

Safary risk
Higher than expecied increases in salary will increase the defined benefic obligation

The following ables surmmaries the companents of net benefit expense recognized i profic or loss and recognized in the Bak Sheet for the said plan:

i) Expense recognised in Statement of Prodir and Lass

For the year ended For the year emded
Particulars 31 March 2024 51 March 2023
Current service cost 003 nax
Interest cost 00 003
Total exp recognised in the § of Profw and Loss 0.06 0.25
i) Remeasuremnents recognized direcily in ather comprehensive mcome

For the year eaded For the year ended
Particelars 3| March 2024 31 March 2023
Nei aciwarial (gaim)dass recognized in the year
- changes in d phi jons (0201 =
- changes in fi ial pii ool -
- changes in sxperience adjusiments {017 013
A recognized in adher comprehensive income (0.36) 10.13)
iti) Change in present value of beselit obligation

For the year ended For the year ended
Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Present value of obligatian 25 ai the beminning of the year 04l 045
Current service cost 0403 412
[nierest cost 003 o035
Acwarial {gainploss 1035) {013)
Benefils paid - {0.16)
Presend value of obligatiom as at the end of the year 0.11 .41
i¥) Amounis i6 be recognized in Batance Shee

As at Ag at

Partivulars 31 March 2024 31 March 202}
Presem value of tie defined benefit abligabion at the end of the year a1 o4l
Fair vatue of plan assets al the end of the vear - =
Ted lahility recognized in the Balance Sheet {11} (D41}




Duet India Hotels | Chennai) Private Linsited

CIN: U551 DI HR2ZMIPTCD46940

Nates to the fmawcial stacements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(4H amointes are in INR miflions, wnless othervise stared)

Non-current o3 LE
Currem oo3 -
v) The priocigal assumptiens used in determiming the pratuity benelly shligation are as givem below

Asg at As al
Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

% %

Discountwig raie pa (1) 115 139
Salary growth rate pa (i) 1000 (11X 1]
{i) The discount rate 15 generally based upon the market yields availabls on G bonds at the ing dale with 2 1erm thar marches that of the liabilities
(i) The salary geowth rate takes account of mflation, senioniy, ¢ ion and other rel [actors on long term basis

As at As at
Demographic assumptions 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Retrement Age [years) 60 1]
Mortality Table 100% of [ALM 100P% of [ALM

(2012-14) (2012-14)

Withdrawal Rate % Y
Apes
Upto 30 Years Tz 13
From 31 1o 44 years kr 15
Abave 44 vears T2 20
vi) The Company best esti of exp for the next year is [NR.0.05 (31 March 2023 -[INR 039 )

A




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: US3101HR2009PTC046940

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(4i amounts are in INR niiflions, unfess othenvise stated)

Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assurmptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have
affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below

31 March 2024

Increase * Decrease *
Discount rate {0.5% moveraent) {0.01) 001
Salary growth rate (0 5% movement) 001 (0.01)
31 March 2023
Increase * Decrease *
Discount rate {0 5% movement) {0.02} 002
Salary growth rate (0 5% movement) 002 (0.02)

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the
sensitivity of the assumptions shown,

* Positive amount represents increase in provision
*Negalive amount represents decrease in provision

{Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation is 1.11 years {31 March 2023 5 81 years).
Sensitivity changes due to withdrawal and montality are not material and hence not disclased

There was no change in the method and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years

2) Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation Asat Asat

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Year
0-1 year 003 -
1-2 year 002 0063
3-3 year oM 003
3-4 year 0.01 0.04
4-3 year 0.01 004
5-6 year - 003
More than 6 year 0.03 024

411 0.41

AL




Duet India Hoacls (Cwennad) Private Limited

CIN: TS5101 HRIO0DSPTCMHERD

Nates 1o the Mnancial Aatemesds for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AN prananty ave v INR midhons, watess sthernse sigled)

p:

n

Fimamee casts For 1 ¥ear ended For the year enided
31 March 2024 31 March X023
Tmerest expense on fmancol hobines corried o amorised cost
- Loan from relaed party * 133 .
- Laans from banks 260 3717
Cther finance casis 033 L0
.36 4&
*Reler nave 34 for relacd party bakances
Deprecialim and amortisation cxponse For the year ended Far the year ended
31 Mareh 2024 30 March 2023
Deprecution of property. plant and equipmen (reler nowe 33 27 15 310l
Depreciation of righi=of-use assews (refer noe 3 o7 o
Amortisign of intangibde assais (refer now 4) [ONE] [Bed]
RN 3349
Diker ETACNSLS For Lhe year omdued Fur the year ¢ndod
31 Murch 2024 31 March 2023
Repaw and mamicnance
- Building L45 154
= Machingry 334 433
= Ortherz 130 L E]
Brard. license and markeung fecs 4 50 20 HR
Communi=ution 17 172
Consumption of slores and supplics 251 9 5
Contracral Labour 166 3105
Seronly ser boos 152 (B
Brinting and sudoncry 0xg [
Inaurance Lo? 152
Legal and professionad fees 430 £36
Loss on forcign cxchange Muciwation (new) 020 oM
Loss on dispesal of propery. phant and cquipment - LRl
Muanagement and mcendve fees 219 |20
Faymeni Lo audinors * 146 351
Powecr. fock and waker W50 1945
Provusion far bad ond doubiful debis and ad vances ol (5]
Rates and tases 363 450
Travelling and conveyance 273 337
Miscellancous cxpenscs 518 337
5T .93
"Paymient o apditoes fexcluding 1ames)
Az Anditors
Samory audin 127 184
Reimborscment of expenses a1l 1.t
Oaler sorvicos 405 3.6l
1.43 5351
Lass per share (EPS)

Basic EPS i calculawed by dividing the loss for the yeur atnbulabls 1o equity sharcholders by the weighied a1 croge number of cquity shares auisianding during the year
Dibied EPS is caleulatcd by droding the boss for the year auribuable to the equity sharcholders by woighted average number of equity shores coisumding during e year phus the

weighted gverags number of cquity shares thal would be issucd an conversion of all the dikulive polential equity shares ing cquity shares

For Ie vear ended

For the year ended

31 Murch 2024 31 March 1013
et ks annburable 1 cquity sharchalders 1521 5517
Weighled merage number of sty shares ouwstanding during the year for calcnlavion of base EPS TIR G 175846
Weighted merage number of equiy shares ousunding docing the year for calenlation af dibned EPS TR 45 TSR
Mominal vahie of ¢quity share (RNE) n %
Bazic comings/{losz) per share (INE) FLE ] i7in
Tonhuned earmingsfilossh per share iTHR) 1% [EAL}]
Fur ihe year cacd Furr the vear ended
3 March 2033 31 March 2823
Recomciliaiien ol vt profmil ributable b eguily
Mer boss afler wx 35 per Stuement of profil and koss 6.23) 3517
M boss ainbutabk 1o equiny shareholders 16.23) (55070
Cabeulating of weightoil average number of shares for basic and diluted carmings per share far the year ended 31 March 2024
Numhgr Weiphied Average

Equiry Shares +045 BET +045. 867
Tasiruments entirely eyuity in nature
Fulky compulsory com cribbe debentures 3712570 3712570

1,150 446 1,758, 46
Caleulation of weighied average number of shares foe hasic amd Jikcd carnings per share for the year ended 31 March 1023

Numher Weighted Average

Equiry Sharcs + 045 RAT 4,045 B67
Instrumencs enfirely equily in nalere
Fylh compulson comeruble debenmres 371258 3711351

1.TRAI4E T, 7584406

A




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2009PTC046940

Notes to the (inancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
Al amounts are in INR millions, unless othenwise stated)

32 Contingent liabilities and commitments
{to the extent not provided for)
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Commitmenis
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and others, - 0.50
and not provided for (net of advances) as at year end.

The Company does not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023

33 Operating Segments

The Holding Company's Chief Executive Officer has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM') w e f 10 August 2023,
since he is responsible for all major decisions w rt the preparation and execution of business plan, preparation of budget, planning, alliance,
merger, acquisition and expansion of any new facility. Till 10 August 2023, the Directors were identified as CODM. CODM has examined
the Company's performance from product and geographic perspective and has identified a single business segment ie "Developing and
running of hotels", hence no specitic disclosures have been made.

A, Information about products and services
The Company primarily deals in one business namely “Developing and running of hotels”. therefore product wise revenue disclosure 1s not
applicable.

B, Information about geographical areas
The Company provides services to customers in India. Further, there are no non-current asseis located outside India.

C. Information about major customers (from external cusiomers}
The Company does not derive revenue from one customer which would amount to 10 per cent or more of the entity’s revenue




Duet India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: US3101HR2009P TC 046940

Notes to the financial statements Tor the year ended 31 March 2024
{AI ameninis are 1 INR pritfions, uless otherwise stated)

33  Related party disclosvres

3) Related party and nature of related party relationship where control exists

Descripiien of relationship Mame of the Party

Ultimate holding company Asiya Capital Investments Company, K.5.C.P. {till 10 August 2027)
Holding Company ACTC Mauritios 1 (4l 10 August 20233

Entity baving significant influence ACIC Magritivs 2 (Hll 10 August 2023)

Helding Company SAMHI Hotels Limited {w.e.F 10 August 2023)

b} Other related parties with whom transactions have taken place

Description of relationship MName of the Party

Fellow Subsidizry Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited
Fellow Subsidvary Duet India Hotels {Pune} Private Limited

Fellow Subsidiary Duet India Hotels {Hyderabad) Private Limited
Fellow Subsidiary Duet India Hotels {Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
Fellow Subsidrary Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited
Fellow Subsidiary ACIC Advisory Private Limited

<) Related party transactions during the current year/previous year

Helding Company Fellow Subsidiary
Particulars

31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

M t fees expenses

ACIC Advisory Private Limited - - 219 1.20

Professional fees

ACIC Advisory Private Limited - - - 1.70

Capital contribution on behalf of the parent pany received

Duet India Hotels {Pune) Private Limited - - 2.00 1.50

Duet [ndia Hotels {Hyderabad) Frivate Limited - - 8.00 10.1&

Short-term borrowings taken during the vear

Det [ndia Hotels {Pune) Privare Limited - - 5.50 -

Duet India Hotels {Hyderabad) Private Limited - - 1.50 -

Capital contribution on behalf of the parent company repaid

Duet [ndia Hotels {Pune) Privale Limitad - - 2.00 24.90

Duet [ndia Hotels {Hyderabad) Private Limited - - - 13.60

Duel India Hotels { Navi Mumbai) Private Limited - - 2.40 1.00

Loans

Duet [ndia Hotels {Navi Mumbai} Privaie Limited - - 7.0l -

Interest accrued on intercorporate loan to related parties

Duet [ndia Hotels (Havi Mumbai) Private Limited - - 0.26 -

Non-Current loans and advances

Intercorporate loan given to related parties

Duet india Hotels {Ahamedabad) Private Limited - - - 4.00

Intercorporate loan repaid by related parties

Duel india Hotels { Ahamedabad} Private Limited - - - 4.00

[nterest accrued on intercorporate loan (rom related parties
Duet [ndia Hotels {Pune) Privale Limited - - 024

Duel [ndia Hotels {Bangalore} Private Limited - - - 203
Duel India Hotels {Hyderabad) Private Limited - - 009 .52

Advance to vendor

ACIC Advisory Prvate Limited - - 3.68 5.03

Reimbursement of exy received

SAMHI Hotels Limited 0.07 - =

Expenses incurred on behalf of the Company

SAMHI Hotels Limited 0.95 -

Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited - -




Duet India Hotels (Ch i) Private Limi
CIN: USS10THR2009P TC 0465940

Motes to the Ainancial starements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AN amouts are in INE sutfions, unless otherwise siated)

d) Related party balances as at year end

Fellow

[N

. Holding Company ¥

Parti

k- 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Capital contribution on behall of the parent pany
Dust India Hotels i Bangalore) Private Limited - - 15.80 15.80
Duet Tndia Hotels (Pune) Private Limited - 60,56 60.56
Dugt India Hotels { Hyderabad) Private Limited - 13.06 7.06
Duet India Hotels {Navi Mumbai} Private Limited - - 240
Advance to vendor
ACIC Adwisory Private Limited - - - 3.66
Duet india Hotels (Ahamedabad} Private Limited - 0.01 -
Instruments entirely equity in nature
Fully Compulsory Convertible Deb es (FCCDs)
ACIC Mauritius 1 - 345.47 - -
5AMHI Hatels Limited 345 47 - - -
Short-term borrowings (including accrued interest)
Duet Indta Hotels { Pune} Private Limited - 5,72 -
Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Privale Limited - - 1.58 -
Short-term loan provided
Duet India Hotels { Mavi Mumbai} Private Limited - - 7.84 -
Other payables
Duet India Hotels { Chennai OMR) Private Limited - - 213 -
Duet Indta Hotels { Pune) Private Limited - - 1.15 -
Trade pavables
ACIC Advisorv Private Limited (including provision) - 2.59 -
Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited - - 243

Asat 31 March 2023, Asiva Capital Investments Company, Kuwait (the Ultimate Holding company 1ill 10 August 2023), has given corporate guarantee to the lenders
of the Company against a borrewing facility taken by the Company and its fellow subsidiary companies. The maximum exposure of the ultimate holding company is

INER. 250.00
[n addition to the fransactions mentioned abowve:

3} There is a security by way of cross collateralisation of cash flows offerred by the Company in respect of borrowings obtained by its fellow subsidiaries from banks.
b Duet India Hotels {Pune} Private Limited has provided fixed deposit for an aggregale amount of INR 250,00 (plus capitalized interest) to [ndusind Bank as lien.

AL




Duet India Hotels {Chennai) Private Limited

CIN: US5101 HR2009PTC 046940

Noies {o the fimancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
{AH comoninns are in INR nuflions, nmdess othernige siied)

35 Financial Instruments - Fair values and risk maaagement

A} Fimancial instraments by category and fair valoe

The below 1able izes the jud; and esti made in determining the fair values of the Nnancial instruments that are (a) recognised and measured al fair value and (b) measured o
amorised ¢ost and For which fair values are disclosed in the fi | To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining Eair value, the Company has
classified its fi L nta the three levels prescribed under the accounting standard
31 March 2024
Level of Hierarchy Fair ¥alue Through Fair Value Throwgh Amortised Cost
Particulars Profit and Loss Other Comprehensive
(F¥TPL) Income (FYTOCT)
Financial assets
MNon-current
Other fi ial assets s 5 974
Current
Trade receivables . = 347
Cash and cash equivalents - - 17.3%
Loans - - 784
Other linaneal assets - - 212
Total fi ial assets - - 45.56
Financisal lisbilities
Non-turrent
Bomowings Leve| 2 - - 314 43
Current
Bomowings Leval 2 - - 5.94
Trade payables - - 2540
CQiher financial liabiiities . 5 934
Toual financial liabilities = - 350.11
31 March 2023
Particulars Level of Hierarchy Fair Value Through Fair Value Through Amorlised Cosl
Profit and Loss Other Comprehensive
(F¥TPL) Income {(FYTOCH
Fii jal assets
Non-current
Oither fi ial assets = - 15
Curvent
Trade receivables - - 932
Cash and cash eguivalents . - 1528
Loans =
Other Ninancial assels 034
Total [inancie) assets - - 17.69
Finamcial liabilitles
Non-correnl
Borrowinas Level 2 - - Aid 4
Current
Bomowings Leve| 2 - - 805
Trade pavables - - 33179
Other financial liabilities - - 469
Total linancial liabilities - - 360,57

The management assessed that the fair value of cash and cash equivalents. other bank balances, trade receivables, secunty deposits, margw money deposits, unbilled revenue, irade and other
payables and other current fi ial aszets and ligbilies approstimate their carrying amounts largely due to the shon-term matarities of these instruments

[nteres! rates on non-current borrowings (borrowings from banks) are equivalent (o the markel rate Such borrowings are at floating rates which are reset al short intervals Accordingly, the
carrying value of such borrowings approximates fair value

Eair valuation of non-current hinancial assets and liabiliues has been disclosed 10 be same as carrying value as there is no significant difference between carrying value and (air value
The company has not done any hedoing Lransactions

B} Measurement of fair values
There are no transfer berween Level |, Level 2 and Level 3 during the year

) Financisl risk management

Risk management ramework

The Company s activities expose it to 2 variety of financial risks marker nsk Oneluding foreiun exchange nisk and imerest rave nisk), eredin ngk and liquidiry nsk

mirumize the financial impact of such risks The risk policies and sy are d regularly o reflect changes 1n market condiions and the Company”s :

M
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Motes to (ke fnamcial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AN amonnis are in INIR wiflions, paless othervise stored)

1, Market risk
Sarkel risk is the risk that the changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and imerest taves, that will affect the Company’s expense or the value of iis holdings of financial instruments The

abjective of marke! risk management is 1o manage and control market nisk exp wathin ble p while optimising the reium

a Interesd rate rish

Inierest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial i will il b of ch 10 markel interest rates The Company’s exposure 10 the risk of changes in markel
interesl rates relates primanly to the Company’s b bligations with floating inlerest rales

The Company evaluates the inlerest rates in the markel on regular basis 1o explore the option of refinancing of the borrowings of the Company & - majority of the Company’s b ings are primarily
linked 10 Moatmg interest rates, thereby resulting in the ad; ofits b & cosls in line with the market interest

Exposure (o imieresd rate risk
The following table d the sensitivily to a bl ible change in inverast rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected. With all other variables held constant, the Company’s profir

¥ P

before wx is affected through Lhe impact on floating rale bormowings, as follows:

Particulars Ttrease/ decrease in - Effect on profit {loss)
basis points before tax

31 March 2024

Term lpans from banks and financial institutions 100kp (323}
Temm loans from banks and financial institutions -100bp iy
30 Mavch 2023

Term loans from banks and financial istitulions 100bp (322)
Term hoans from banks and financial institutions -100bp in

The assumed mavement in basis pownts for the inlerest rale sensilivity enalysis is based on the curently observable market ing a significantly higher volatility than in pricr years

b.Currency risk

Cumency risk for the Company 15 the risk that the future cash outflows on account of payables for manzgement fees and other expenditure will 1l b of cf in foreign exch rates The
Company is exposed to the effecis of ﬂnmuatmn in the prevailing forgign currency exchange raes on its fnancial position and cash flows. Exp arises primanly due to exch rae il jons

the funciional qwrency and other The M: | foreign exch rale exp arising from foreign y 1ons on periodic basts and follows appropriate nisk management
policies

Exposure to carrency risk
The Company’s exposure Lo foreign currency risk al the #nd of the reponing penod are as follows:

31 March 2024 Currency Amoant in Toreign Amaount in INR {in
curreny (in millions) milliome)

Finamrial linbilities

Trade payables usp 004 352
31 March 2023
Curreacy Amount im foreign Amount in INK {in
correny (in millions) milions)

Finamcial lisbilities
Trade payables UsD 008 [3:3)

Foreign currency sensitiviry

The following tables demonsirate the sensilivity to 2 reasonably possible change in USD exchange rates, with all other variables held constani. The impact on the Company's prafit before 1ax is due to changes
in the Fair value of monetary assets and labilives.

Change in Effect om profii (loss)
USD rate before ran
31 March 2024 100bp 004
-100bp 004
31 March 2023 100bp (007
-100bp 0a?

2, Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company i 2 customer o counterparty 1o a financil instrument fails to meel its contracwual obligations. The camying amount of financial asseis represent the
maximum credit risk exposure The Company has credit policies in place and the exposures 1 these credil rigks are monitored on 2n ongoing basis

The Company's policy 15 to place cash and cash equivalents and eiher bank balances wih banks and fi ial instituti parties with pood credil rating

The Company has given security deposits Lo vanous staiuory authorities and to vendors for secunng services from them and rental deposits For emplayes e daii Further, the Company has other
ble bal ding a5 al year end from vendors against cost reimbursement. The Company doss not expect any default from these perti¢s and accordingly the nisk of default 15 negligible or nil

In respect of credil exposures from irade ivables, the Company has established a credit policy under which sach new 15 analysed individually for credi t before Snlering inlo contract

Credit limits are established for each d regularly and any sales sxceeding those limits require approval from the appropnate amherily

Tha Company establishes an all far imp that rep: its expected credit losses in respect of irade recervables The management uses a simplifisd approach for the purpose of computation of

expected credit loss for rade recervables In credit risk, < are prouped secording 10 thewr credu charactenstics, meluding whether they are an individual or legal entity, ther

geographical location, indusiry and existence of previous financial difficulties, if any
Thers are no significant concentrations of credit risk wathin the Company

The Company considers 3 (nancial asset 1o be n default when:

= the debior 15 unlikely 1o pay its credit obligations to the Group m full, or

= the financial zssel is more than bwo years past due

The provision mathx used for determiming loss allowance on trade recervables as a1 31 March 2024 45 0-130 days 0 34%. 130-365 days 3 61%. 366-347 days 18 46%, 545-729 days 62 05%, »= 730 days
100%4%
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Reconciliation of loss allowance provision
For the year ended For the year ended

Trade receivables 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Opening balance 008 (O08)
Change in loss allowance {01l -
Chosimg balamce .19 (0.04)
For the year ended For the year ended
Loans 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Opering batance 060 [R:01]
Change in loss allowance - =
Closing balance .60 0.60
3, Liquidity risk
Liquidicy risk is the risk thal the Company will encounter difficulty in ing the oblhigati d with its fi ial liabilivies that are setiled by delivenng cash or another financial asser The
Company's approach 1o ing liquidity is 1o ensure, a5 far a5 possible, that it will have sufictent liquidity to meen its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed condinons, without

incurming unacceptable lasses or nsking damage 10 Company™s reputation

P rolling fi of the Company's liquidity position and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expecied cash Nows to ensure it has sufficient cash 10 meer operational needs Such
forecasting lakes into ideralion the Company's debt refi ing plans, und, inted ¢ Facilities and pli

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk rests with the board of di s, which has blished an appropriate liquidity nsk fr rk for the af the Company™s shon-
lerm, medium term and Jong-term funding and Tiquidi B qui

The following are the | marurines of financial hiabilities at the reporting date The amounis are gross and undiscoumed:

Coatraciual cash flows

31 March 2024 Carrying amonnt Tonal 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5 years

Non-derivative fmancial linbilities

Non-curment borrowings 31443 32102 - 2063 13009 17036

Current borrowings ood 994 994 - - -

Current Trade payables 2540 2540 2540 - - +

Other qwrent financial liabilives 9.3d 934 9 34 - - -
350.11 365.70 44.68 20.63 130.03 17036

Comtraciwal cash Nows

31 March 2023 Carryving 1] Taotal -1 year 1- vears 2-5 vears More than 5 vears

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Mon-current bormowings 314 61 2387 - 057 10268 22062

Currenl borrowings 748 T48 T48 - - -

Trade payables 3o kXN 1379 - - -

Other current finansial liabibies 469 4.6% 469 - - -
360.57 369.83 4596 0.57 102.68 22063

Al
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Capital management

The Company’s policy 15 to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business

The Board of Directors of the Holding I seeks to mai 2 bal, b the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowing and the advantages and security aforded by a
sound eapital position. The Company monitors capital using loan to value (LTV) method to ensure that the loan to value does not increase beyond 65% on any given reporting date at Group level Loan
includes the current and non-current borrowings and Value refers to the marker capitalisation of the Group

The Company 15 not subject to externally imposed capital requirements

As a pant of its capilal management policy, the Company did not have any defzults in the repayment of loans and interest for the current year. The loan covenants have been rested for Duet India Hotels
{Hyderabad} Private Limited, Duet India Hotels {Chennai} Private Limited, Duet India Hotels { Jaipur) Private Limited, Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited, Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR}) Private
Limited, Duet India Hotels { Ahmedabad? Private Limited on consolidated basis and there have been no loan covenant defaults during the current year and there has been no momation from the bank For
recalling any loan facility

Disclosures uvnder Micro, Smail and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED) As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Dues to micro, smafl and medium suppliers

The amounts remaining unpaid to micro and small suppliers as at the end of the year:

Principal kR 153
Interest - -

The amount of interest paid by the buyer as per the Micro Small and Medium Enterprizes Development Act, 2006 (MSMED Act, 2006) - -
The amounts of the payments made 1o micro and small suppliers beyond the appainied day during each accounting year - -

The amount of interest due and payable for the year of delay in making payment { which have been paid bur beyond

the appainted day durng the year) but withoul adding the interesi specified under MSMED Act, 2006

The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid al the end of ¢ach accounting year + =
The amount of Further remaining due and payable even in the succeeding vears, until such date when the

interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disall a5 a deducnble - -
expenditure under Section 23 of the MSMED Act 2006

The management has identified enterprises which have provided goods and services 1o the Company and which qualify under the definition of micro and small enterprises, as defined under Micro, Small and
Medwm Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED) Accordingly, the disclosure in respect of the amounts payable to such enterprises as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 has been made in the
fi ial based on infi ion received and available with the Comparry

Ratios as required by Schedule [0 to the Companies Act, 2013;

Ratio In times/ % MNumerater Denoniinator 31 March 2024 | 31 March 2023 |Inerease! decrease %
(a} Current Ratio In tines Total Current Aszets Total Current Liabilities 081 a8l 3%
(b) Debt-Equity Ratio In times Total Barrawmgs Total Equity 592 585 1%
(c} Detw Service Coverage | In times Earnings before finance | Finanee costs paid + Principal 1.38 a5l 268%
Ratio costs, depreciation and repayments of long term

amortisation angd tax bomowings

(d) Return on Equity Ratip  |In% Loss for the year Average Total Equity <11 34% -68 85% 4%
(&) Trade Recervables In hmes Revenue from operations  |Average Trade Receivables 2110 1501 1%
tumover ralio
(F) Trade payables tumover  |In nmes | Purchases + Qther Average Trade Payables 358 324 1%
ratio expenses
(g} Met capital tnmover ralie |[n Limes Revenue from cperations | Average working capital (1141) (11.00) 4%
{h) Met profit cano n % Loss for the year Revenue from operations -332% -37.29% N%
(i) Return on Capital In % Loss before interest and | Capitzl Employed ; Tangible Net & 60% -3 91% -80%%
emploved taxes Worth + Total Borrowing

Explanations to varisace in ratios:

Current Ratio Current ratio has been increased due to decrease in rade pavables in current year

Debt- Equity Ratio Since the variance is less than 25% there is no requirement to disclose the reason

Debt Service Coverage Ratio |Increase in dely service coverage ratio s on account of incrsase in earmings before finance costs, depreciation and amontisation and tax in the current
Return on Equity Ratio Irnprovamnent in remurm on &quity ratio is on accounl of improvement in business performance during the current year

Trade Recervable Tumover  |In cumrent year with Lhe revival of operations, the Company has eamed higher revenue in current year Accordingly, the trade receivables tumover
Ratio ratio has improved in the current year

Trade Payable Tumover Since the vaniance is less than 25% there 13 no requirement 1o disclose the reason
Rarig

Nel Capital Tumover Ralic  |Since the variance is less than 25% there 15 no requirement to disclose the reason
Nel profit ratic The losses for the vear have reduced leading to improvement in the rabe

Retum on Capital emploved  [Retum on capiial emploved has been improved due to increase in operating margin during the vear

The Company has nol presented the following ranos due to the reasons given below

{1} Inverwory turmover ratio. 3ince the proportion of such inventory value 1s msigmiicant oo total assets
{2) Retum on investments: Since the Company invests surplus iemporary funds i short-term bank deposits and the income generated from it is insignificant ko total

A
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New ds and interpretati not yet F
Mimistry of corporate affairs (" MCA™) notifies new dard or d o the existing standards under {Indian A ing Siandards) Rules as issued from time to time For the year ended

31 March 2024, MCA has not nolified any new standards or amendments to the existing standards applicable to the Company

4

Other statutory imformaiion
(i} The Company does nat have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the Company for holding any Benami property under the Benami Transacnons
(Prohubition) Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder

{ii) The Company has not been declared as willful defaulter by any bank or financial Institution or other lender

{i1i) The Compary has not entered into any transaclions with companies struck off under section 242 of the Companies Act, 2013 or section 360 of Companies Act, 1956

{iv) The Company doss not have any transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax nder the |

Tax Act, 1961 (such a5, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961

{v) There are no charges or satisfaction yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period

(vi} There are no funds which have been advanced or loaned or invested (sither from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other persons or
entities, including Foreizn entities {“Intermediaries™, with the mdersianding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall direetly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or
entities identified in any manner whatsoever (“Uliimate Beneficiaries™} by or on behalf of the Company or provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries

(vii} There are no funds which have been received by the Company from any persons or entities, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties™), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing ot
otherwise, that the Company shall directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) by or on behalf of the Funding Party or
provide any guarantee, secunity or the like from or on behall of the Ullimate Beneficiaries

(i) The Company and Group 15 not a 1 a3 per the provisions of the Core Investment Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016

{ix} The Company has not raded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year

(%) The company has complied with the number of layers prescribed under section 2(37) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Comparues {Resmction on number of Layers) Rules, 20177

(i1 The Company has used the borrowings from bank and financial instinrion for the specific purpose for which it was taken

{xi1) The Company has not d into any sch of arangy which has an accounting impact on current of previous financial year

(xti1i) The Company has not revalued its property, plant and equipment or intangible assets or both during current or previous year

(xiv) The Company is not required to submit quarterly retumns or statements with banks during the current or previous year

(2v) The title deeds of immovabie property disclosed in the financial statements are held in the name of the Company However, original title deeds are under lien with lender

(i) The Company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans to promoters, directors, KMPs and the related parties (as defined under Compannes Act, 2013) either severally or jointly with
any other person that are repayable on demand or wathout specifying any terms ot period of repayment

Code on Social Security, 2020

The Code on Social Security, 2020 (*the Code’) relating 1o employee benefits received Presidential assent on 28 Seplember 2020 The Mimistry of Labour and Employment has released draft rules for the
Code on 13 November 2020 and imvited suggestions from the stakeholders The date of implementation of the Code is yel to be notified by the Government and when implemented will impact the
contributions by the Company towards benefits such as Provident Fund, Gratuity etc. The Company will assess the impact of the Code and give effect in the financial statements when the Code and Rules

In earlier years, the Company had engaged with a service provider for assisting in hotel ions The service provider mitiated arbifration procesdings for recovery of above amounts and Lhe

filed 2 claim disputing service provider's claims on account of delay and lack of submission of cost details and saving arising out of the efforts of servics provider The Company was
camying 3 provision for expected liability in this regard on a prudent basis amounting to INR 7 7 as at 31 March 2023 During the current year, a setiement agreement has been executed with the service
provider for a full and final settlement of dues amounting to INR 6 00 Accordingly, the differential provision of INR. 0 0% (net of advances of INR 1 64) has been reversed in the Stalement of Profit and Loss
under ‘Provision { liabihties no longer required written back' during the current year

The notes from note | to note 42 form an integral part of these financial statements
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